**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_

Certiorari to Charleston County

Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

\_\_\_\_\_

HAROLD JONES, JR.

**RECEIVED**  
SEP 20 2019  
PETITIONER  
S.C. SUPREME COURT

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-000396

\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ADAM SINCLAIR RUFFIN  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the PCR court err in denying Petitioner's application for relief where his plea counsel failed to convey a twenty-three-year plea offer to the charge of voluntary manslaughter which was made by the state and Petitioner testified that had he known of the offer he would have accepted it?

## STATEMENT

On May 12, 2015, Petitioner's case was called to trial in Charleston County on the charges of murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime before the Honorable J.C. Nicholson. App. 1. He was represented by Ashley Pennington and John Kozelski. The state was represented by Bruce DuRant. App. 1.

After selecting a jury, defense counsel moved to enforce a prior plea agreement pursuant to Lafler v. Cooper, 132 S. Ct. 1376 (2012). App. 54, ll. 6 – 14. Counsel Kozelski told the judge that Petitioner had always wanted to plead guilty if he could get a twenty-year plea deal. App. 86, ll. 19 – 25. The original offer they received from assistant solicitor DuRant was a negotiated thirty-year sentence on the charge of voluntary manslaughter. App. 88, 1 – 4. Kozelski relayed this offer to Petitioner who rejected it. App. 88, ll. 13 – 23. After more negotiating, they arrived at a plea offer of a negotiated sentence of twenty-two-and-a-half-years on voluntary manslaughter. App. 88, l. 23 – 89, l. 3.

Kozelski relayed this twenty-two-and-a-half-year plea offer to Petitioner who agreed to accept it and signed the sentencing sheets in preparation for court. App. 89, ll. 4 – 11. The following day, February 11, 2015, Petitioner went to court to plead guilty pursuant to this offer. However, when Kozelski got to court, he was confronted by Petitioner's family who told him that Petitioner was not competent and that he needed to be evaluated. App. 90, ll. 5 – 22. Fearing a possible PCR problem, Kozelski believed that he needed to have Petitioner evaluated for competency before they could go through with the plea. App. 90, l. 23 – 91, l. 13. Kozelski told the judge that even though he believed Petitioner was competent, he still requested the competency evaluation. App. 91, l. 22 – 92, l. 13.

Assistant solicitor DuRant told the judge that the day the plea was scheduled to take place was the first time he had ever heard there were concerns about Petitioner's competency. App. 92, ll. 20 – 25. According to DuRant, the twenty-two-and-a-half-year plea offer was revoked when Kozelski requested the competency evaluation and thus delayed the plea.<sup>1</sup> App. 95, ll. 7 – 20. Kozelski said that after this, DuRant increased the plea offer to a negotiated twenty-three years. App. 96, ll. 4 – 12. When the competency evaluation was done by DMH and DDSN on April 30, 2015, it found that Petitioner was competent to stand trial. App. 96, l. 23 – 97, l. 7.

Petitioner informed the court that he did sign plea paperwork agreeing to the twenty-two-and-a-half-year plea deal and that his intention was and had always been to plead guilty to that offer. App. 102, l. 18 – 103, l. 2; app. 103, l. 24 – 104, l. 10. Kozelski admitted that he never conveyed the twenty-three year offer to Petitioner. App. 111, ll. 14 – 25.

Defense counsel Pennington then argued to the judge that Kozelski had made a mistake by requesting the competency evaluation which caused Petitioner to lose the twenty-two-and-a-half-year plea offer, and pursuant to Lafler v. Cooper, 132 S. Ct. 1376 (2012), this plea offer should be enforced. App. 112, l. 4 – 117, l. 23; app. 119, l. 12 – 120, l. 17; app. 131, ll. 5 – 16. The judge took that matter under advisement and said he would rule the following morning. App. 134, ll. 20 – 23.

The following day, May 13, 2015, the judge denied the motion to enforce the twenty-two-and-a-half-year guilty plea finding there was no ineffective assistance of counsel by

---

<sup>1</sup> Dr. Susan Knight had already been retained by defense counsel to evaluate Petitioner for mitigation purposes so Kozelski suggested that Dr. Knight do the competency evaluation. Kozelski believed that Dr. Knight could perform a competency evaluation quickly, but she was unable to do so until March. When Dr. Knight attempted to perform the evaluation on March 13, 2015, Petitioner was not cooperative with her. App. 93, ll. 10 – 20. For this reason, Kozelski and DuRant agreed to ask the Department of Mental Health or Department of Disabilities and Special Needs to do the evaluation. App. 93, ll. 20 – 24.

Kozelski. App. 141, ll. 7 – 21. Petitioner then pled guilty to voluntary manslaughter and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime before the Honorable J.C. Nicholson for a negotiated total sentence of thirty-five years imprisonment.

The state alleged that Petitioner stabbed and shot his great-uncle, James Butler, to death while at their residence. App. 158, ll. 2 – 13. Petitioner was developed as a suspect and taken into custody. App. 158, ll. 14 – 23; app. 159, ll. 5 – 8. When the officers conducted a search incident to his arrest, they found a .32 caliber revolver in his pocket and he was also wearing jeans that appeared to have bloodstains. App. 159, ll. 8 – 14.

The bullet that was recovered from Butler at the autopsy was determined to have been fired from the .32 caliber revolver that was found in Petitioner's pocket and the blood on Petitioner's jeans matched Butler's DNA profile. App. 159, l. 21 – 160, l. 7. Petitioner gave a statement to law enforcement that he shot Butler after an altercation they had. App. 160, ll. 16 – 19.

At the guilty plea, Petitioner agreed with the facts as presented by the state. App. 161, ll. 1 – 7. The court accepted Petitioner's guilty plea and imposed the negotiated sentence agreed to by the parties of thirty years imprisonment for voluntary manslaughter and a consecutive five-year term of imprisonment for the possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime charge. App. 162, ll. 16 – 25; app. 167, ll. 16 – 23. As part of Petitioner's plea, he signed a waiver of post-conviction review. App. 170 – 171.

On June 9, 2015, the parties reconvened before Judge Nicholson to vacate Petitioner's guilty plea to possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime and have Petitioner instead enter a new guilty plea to possession of a stolen pistol. App. 172 – 185. This was done because the parties had a misunderstanding of the sentencing calculation between the

two offenses.<sup>2</sup> App. 174, l. 8 – 175, l. 16. Judge Nicholson again sentenced Petitioner to a negotiated five-year term of imprisonment which was to run consecutively to his thirty-year sentence on the voluntary manslaughter charge. App. 184, ll. 12 – 15.

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on November 25, 2015. App. 186. The state made its Return on May 9, 2016. App. 193. Petitioner then filed an amended application on July 27, 2017 through his attorney, Rodney Davis. App. 198. In response, the state filed an amended return and partial motion to dismiss based on Petitioner having signed a waiver of post-conviction review at the time of his guilty plea. App. 200 – 205.

On December 5, 2017 a hearing on the state’s motion to dismiss was held before the Honorable Michael Nettles. App. 206. At the end of the hearing, Judge Nettles found that Petitioner could not be found to have fully understood the consequences of signing the PCR waiver and therefore, denied the state’s motion to dismiss and ordered that a full evidentiary hearing be conducted on Petitioner’s PCR claims.<sup>3</sup> App. 256 – 260.

On December 4, 2018, a full evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper. App. 326. Petitioner was represented by Rodney Davis and the state was

---

<sup>2</sup> Possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime carries a mandatory sentence of five-years imprisonment which cannot be suspended and must be served day-for-day. S.C. Code Ann. §16-23-490. Possession of a stolen pistol, on the other hand, carries a maximum term of imprisonment for five years but is parole eligible after the service of one quarter of the sentence and “maxes out” after roughly fifty-five percent of the sentence. S.C. Code Ann. §§16-23-30 – 16-23-50.

<sup>3</sup> On July 24, 2018, an evidentiary hearing was started before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, but prematurely ended after Petitioner withdrew his application for PCR. App. 261 – 316. Petitioner subsequently filed a motion to alter/amend judgement alleging that his withdrawal of his PCR application was unduly influenced by erroneous statements of law by the court, non-testimonial statements by assistant solicitor DuRant, and his low intelligence. App. 319 – 323. Petitioner’s motion was granted with the consent of the state and his PCR application was then reinstated. App. 324 – 325.

represented by Megan Jameson. App. 326. Petitioner testified along with his plea counsel, John Kozelski, and the assistant solicitor who prosecuted him, Bruce DuRant. App. 327.

At this hearing, Petitioner proceeded on the sole ground that his plea counsel was ineffective for failing to relay the twenty-three year offer that was made by assistant solicitor DuRant. App. 337, l. 23 – 338, l. 2. Kozelski admitted that he never relayed the negotiated twenty-three year offer to Petitioner. App. 358, ll. 11 – 13. Kozelski said he did not relay this offer because (1) he thought the six-month increase because of the competency evaluation was vindictive, and (2) he thought that he could get the twenty-two-and-a-half-year offer back because Petitioner had accepted that offer. App. 358, ll. 13 – 25.

Kozelski testified that he did not interpret DuRant's email to him extending the twenty-three-year plea offer as having a deadline or being conditioned on a finding of competency. App. 367, l. 18 – 368, l. 4; app. 369, ll. 5 – 8. Kozelski acknowledged that Petitioner had not been evaluated for competency at the time the twenty-three-year offer was extended. App. 370, ll. 6 – 10. Petitioner also testified that Kozelski never told him about the twenty-three year offer and that had he known about that offer, he would have accepted it. App. 383, ll. 2 – 8.

Assistant solicitor DuRant claimed that his plea offer of twenty-three years was conditioned on two things: (1) a psychiatrist making a finding of competency, and (2) an answer of acceptance by the end of the week because the plea would have to go forward the following week. App. 388, ll. 4 – 14. Kozelski informed DuRant that Dr. Susan Knight needed to conduct a full competency exam because her prior evaluation of Petitioner was specifically limited to mitigation. App. 430. Kozelski told DuRant that Dr. Knight had scheduled the evaluation for the week of March 9, 2015. App. 430. Even though DuRant did not respond to Kozelski's

email, he contended that once he heard that Dr. Knight would not opine on competency without conducting an evaluation that the “twenty-three years was off the table.” App. 388, ll. 15 – 19.

Petitioner’s PCR counsel argued that assistant solicitor DuRant never put a firm deadline on the twenty-three-year plea offer. App. 396, l. 4 – 397, l. 2. Counsel cited to Missouri v. Frye, 566 U.S. 134 (2012), Davie v. State, 381 S.C. 601, 675 S.E.2d 416 (2009), and Bell v. State, 410 S.C. 436, 765 S.E.2d 4 (Ct. App. 2014) in support of his contention that plea counsel for Petitioner was ineffective for failing to relay the twenty-three-year plea offer that was extended by the state. App. 398, l. 12 – 400, l. 18.

The assistant attorney general argued that pursuant to Collins v. State, 422 S.C. 250, 810 S.E.2d 871 (2018), Petitioner was required to show not only that he would have accepted the plea offer but also that it would have been entered into without the prosecutor rescinding it and that it would have been accepted by the court. App. 412, l. 13 – 413, l. 19. She argued that Petitioner could not satisfy these elements because DuRant conditioned the twenty-three-year plea offer on Petitioner being found competent and entering the plea within a week of the offer being extended and neither of those conditions were met. App. 413, l. 20 – 414, l. 11.

The PCR court found that Petitioner failed to meet his burden because he failed to show that the twenty-three-year plea offer would have been entered without being cancelled by the prosecution. App. 465. The PCR court denied Petitioner’s application. App. 466.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in denying Petitioner's application for relief because his plea counsel failed to convey a twenty-three-year plea offer to the charge of voluntary manslaughter which was made by the state and Petitioner testified that had he known of the offer he would have accepted it.

In order to prove ineffective assistance of counsel, Petitioner must show that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688.

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner must prove "that counsel's performance was deficient," meaning that it fell below reasonable professional norms, and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial." Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668.

Criminal defendants have a right to effective assistance of counsel during the plea negotiating process. Missouri v. Frye, 566 U.S. 134, 144 (2012). This includes defense counsel's "duty to communicate formal offers from the prosecution to accept a plea on terms and conditions that may be favorable to the accused." Id. "Generally, where defense counsel does

not communicate such an offer to the defendant, counsel has rendered ineffective assistance.” Collins v. State, 422 S.C. 250, 261, 810 S.E.2d 871, 876-877 (2018).

In order to show prejudice from defense counsel’s failure to relay a plea offer, “a defendant must demonstrate a reasonable probability that: (1) he ‘would have accepted the earlier plea offer had [he] been afforded effective assistance of counsel;’ (2) ‘the plea would have been entered without the prosecution cancelling it or the trial court refusing to accept it;’ and (3) ‘the end result of the criminal process would have been more favorable by reason of a plea to a lesser charge or a sentence of less prison time.’” Collins at 262, 810 S.E.2d at 877 (quoting Missouri v. Frye, 566 U.S. at 147).

In this case, it is undisputed that assistant solicitor DuRant extended a plea offer to defense counsel of a negotiated sentence of twenty-three years to the charge of voluntary manslaughter by way of an email on February 17, 2015. App. 430. It is also undisputed that defense counsel failed to convey this offer to Petitioner. App. 358, ll. 11 – 13; app. 383, ll. 2 – 8. Kozelski said he did not convey the twenty-three-year offer because he believed that he could get the twenty-two-and-a-half-year offer back. Further, he thought the six-month increase in the offer after he elected to delay the plea in order to get Petitioner evaluated was vindictive by the assistant solicitor. App. 358, ll. 13 – 25.

Regardless, Kozelski’s failure to convey the twenty-three-year plea offer was inexcusable. Even though Kozelski said that he believed the six-month increase was vindictive, he never argued this position to the judge in attempting to enforce the twenty-two-and-a-half-year offer. Instead, defense counsel Pennington, his boss, told the judge that Kozelski “made a big mistake” by requesting the competency evaluation based on what Petitioner’s family claimed prior to the plea and thereby precluded the plea from going forward that day which resulted in

the assistant solicitor revoking the offer. App. 112, l. 4 – 117, l. 23; app. 119, l. 12 – 120, l. 17; app. 131, ll. 5 – 16.

Kozelski testified at the PCR hearing that he did not believe the twenty-three-year plea offer was in fact conditioned on the one-week deadline for a finding of competency and completion of the plea. App. 367, l. 18 – 368, l. 4; app. 369, ll. 5 – 8. Therefore, there was no reason for Kozelski to *never* inform Petitioner of this plea offer over the course of the next two months while he continued to represent Petitioner.

Petitioner testified that he would have accepted the twenty-three-year plea offer had he known about it and the PCR court did not find that his testimony was not credible. App. 383, ll. 2 – 8. Petitioner's testimony is supported by the fact that he had already signed sentencing sheets agreeing to plead guilty to twenty-two-and-a-half years and that he ultimately pled guilty to a total of thirty-five years; twelve years more than the offer that Kozelski failed to convey to him.

Had Kozelski informed Petitioner of the plea deal he would have learned that Petitioner was willing to accept the deal and thus, Kozelski would have informed DuRant of Petitioner's acceptance. Kozelski's failure to convey the offer to Petitioner meant that Kozelski was never able to convey to DuRant Petitioner's acceptance either. Kozelski's failure to convey the offer to Petitioner and his failure to convey acceptance to DuRant were both deficient.

If Kozelski had, at the very least, fulfilled his duty in relaying the twenty-three-year plea offer prior to its supposed expiration date then he would have also been able to inform DuRant of Petitioner's acceptance prior to this supposed expiration date. Once this occurred, the only "condition" of DuRant's plea offer left unmet would have been an official finding of competency. It is disingenuous at best for a solicitor to say that a plea offer was revoked based

on an unmet condition that was impossible for the defense to fulfill, i.e. a competency evaluation within the next week that was wholly out of defense counsel and defendant's control. DuRant's contention that the "twenty-three years was off the table" after Kozelski emailed him to say that Dr. Knight would not be able to opine on Petitioner's competency until she had a chance to conduct a full evaluation was alarming. App. 388, ll. 15 – 19.

Petitioner was ultimately found to be competent and the fact that he was not evaluated by a doctor in the five-day time span following DuRant's offer of twenty-three years would not have, in-and-of-itself, led to the revocation of the plea offer. Therefore, Petitioner did meet all three requirements under Collins v. State, 422 S.C. 250, 810 S.E.2d 871 (2018). Petitioner would have accepted the twenty-three-year plea offer had Kozelski rendered effective assistance by relaying this plea offer to him; the plea would have been accepted without being cancelled by the solicitor despite his contention to the contrary; and the end result would have been significantly more favorable to Petitioner because he would have been sentenced to twelve years less imprisonment than he is currently serving.

Kozelski's failure to relay the twenty-three-year plea offer constituted ineffective assistance of counsel and DuRant's claim that he would have revoked a plea offer based on the defendant's failure to meet an impossible condition that was out of his control strains credulity. The reality was that had Kozelski relayed the twenty-three year offer to Petitioner and then informed DuRant of Petitioner's acceptance, the twenty-three-year plea would have been entered by Petitioner and accepted by the court. Thus, the PCR court erred in finding that Petitioner failed to meet his burden. See Missouri v. Frye, 566 U.S. 134 (2012); Collins v. State, 422 S.C. 250, 810 S.E.2d 871 (2018).

**CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing argument, Petitioner respectfully requests this Court grant the petition for writ of certiorari and order further briefing on the issue presented.



---

Adam Sinclair Ruffin  
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER