STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO CHARLESTON COUNTY
J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Plea Judge
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000396

HAROLD JONES, JR.,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100108

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish any constitutional deprivations entitling him to relief based on an uncommunicated conditional plea offer where probative evidence established the plea offer was conditioned on a finding of competency prior to the entry of the plea and acceptance within a defined period, neither of which would have been met before the plea offer was rescinded by the prosecution due to Petitioner's actions.

On appeal, Petitioner argues the post-conviction relief court erred in denying him relief because plea counsel was deficient in his handling of a twenty-three-year plea offer and that this deficiency resulted in him entering a negotiated guilty plea for significantly more time. Petitioner argues this establishes that counsel was constitutionally ineffective and this ineffectiveness warrants remanding the matter back to the court of general sessions for resentencing. However, the post-conviction relief court properly rejected this argument, finding Petitioner failed to establish that the uncommunicated plea offer—conditioned on entry within the week after a finding of competency after assurances from counsel that such could be accomplished—would have been accepted prior to being cancelled by the prosecution for failing to meet the conditions of the plea offer or would have been accepted by a plea court prior to expiration. These findings are not controlled by an error of law and are supported by probative evidence in the record. This Court should deny certiorari.

Petitioner, like all other defendants, has a right to the assistance of effective counsel as provided by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Lomax v. State, 379 S.C. 93, 665 S.E.2d 164 (2008). Petitioner has the burden of proving the allegations in his post-conviction relief action, and when alleging that trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective, he must prove that

“counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that it cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686

In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the two-pronged test outlined in Strickland, 466 U.S. 668. First, Petitioner must prove that counsel’s performance was deficient. Id.; Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Under this prong, the court measures an attorney’s performance by its “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). “Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). Petitioner must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625. Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced Petitioner such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. With respect to guilty plea counsel, the applicant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s alleged errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52 (1985).

The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. A court need not first determine whether counsel’s performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. If it is easier to dispose of an

ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. Strickland, 466 U.S. 668.

Moreover, Strickland does not require a finding of ineffectiveness merely for deviation from some rigid rule of representation. Rather, Strickland requires the post-conviction relief applicant to prove “counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.” Id. at 697. Therefore, the function of the post-conviction relief court is to determine if “in light of all the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside the wide range of professional competent assistance” required of a criminal defense attorney.” Id. at 690.

“A guilty plea is a solemn, judicial admission of the truth of the charges against an individual; thus, a criminal inmate’s right to contest the validity of such a plea is usually, but not invariably, foreclosed.” Dalton v. State, 376 S.C. 130, 137, 654 S.E.2d 870, 874 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63, 74 (1977)). “Indeed, where a thorough colloquy is conducted, courts must exercise caution in setting aside the guilty plea.” Garren v. State, 423 S.C. 1, 12, 813 S.E.2d 704, 712 (2018); see Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 469-71, 765 S.E.2d 123, 129-30 (2014) (observing that “guilty plea[s] must be treated as final in the vast majority of cases” and instructing that caution must be exercised so as not to “undermine the solemn nature of a guilty plea and the finality that generally attaches to a guilty plea”).

“Defense counsel has the duty to communicate formal offers from the prosecution to accept a plea on terms and conditions that may be favorable to the accused.” Missouri v. Frye, 566 U.S. 134, 145 (2012). When alleging plea counsel was ineffective in his or her handling of a plea offer, an applicant “must demonstrate a reasonable probability that: (1) he ‘would have accepted the earlier plea offer had [he] been afforded effective assistance of counsel;’ (2) ‘the

plea would have been entered without the prosecution canceling it or the trial court refusing to accept it;” and (3) “the end result of the criminal process would have been more favorable by reason of a plea to a lesser charge or a sentence of less prison time.” Collins v. State, 422 S.C. 250, 262, 810 S.E.2d 871, 877 (2018) (citing Frye, 566 U.S. at 147); see Lafler v. Cooper, 566 U.S. 156, 164 (2012) (stating “a defendant must show that but for the ineffective advice of counsel there is a reasonable probability that the plea offer would have been presented to the court (i.e., that the defendant would have accepted the plea and the prosecution would not have withdrawn it in light of intervening circumstances), that the court would have accepted its terms, and that the conviction or sentence, or both, under the offer’s terms would have been less severe than under the judgment and sentence that in fact were imposed”). An applicant must establish not just that a favorable plea offer was not communicated, but also that “the plea would have been entered without the prosecution canceling it or the trial court refusing to accept it.” Id.

In the present case, the uncontroverted testimony establishes a twenty-three-year plea offer was extended by the State and counsel did not convey this offer to Petitioner. However, the events before and after the extension of this offer and the terms of the offer itself that were in dispute before the post-conviction relief court, particularly whether the offer had certain conditions for acceptance and whether it would have been accepted by the plea court before it expired or the prosecution rescinded it. Based on the evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing, the post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to meet his requisite burden of proof because he could not establish the conditional offer would have been accepted before being rescinded by the prosecution. There is probative evidence to support these findings.

At the evidentiary hearing, Kozelski reluctantly acknowledged the plea offer had two conditions for acceptance—a finding of competency and acceptance by the following Tuesday. (App. 368-69). Kozelski also testified he did not have any reason to doubt Petitioner’s competency and believed he could quickly secure a letter of competency from the same doctor who had performed a mitigation evaluation. (App. 353-55). Deputy Solicitor DuRant similarly testified that he unequivocally informed Kozelski that the twenty-three-year plea offer was conditioned on Kozelski providing an opinion that Petitioner was competent and acceptance by the end of the week. (App. 388). Deputy Solicitor DuRant testified he did not believe that there were any competency concerns with Petitioner and this was a negotiation tactic to delay and secure a more favorable plea offer. (App. 387). This testimony clearly establishes the plea offer was conditional and neither condition was met before the offer was revoked by the prosecution.

The emails between Deputy Solicitor DuRant and Kozelski, which again reference both conditions of the plea offer, are also probative evidence to support the post-conviction court’s findings. See App. 430 (“John, If Dr. Knight is of the opinion that Mr. Jones is competent to stand trial I would appreciate you providing at least a letter to that effect so this will not be an issue in the future. Also, I have been thinking about this over the weekend and just see no reason why Mr. Jones should receive the benefit of the same offer he turned down last week. I really don’t care if it is his fault, his families’ fault or your fault. That is the whole point of making plea offers and setting time limits. Not much sense in doing it if you make an offer, the defendant doesn’t accept and then you go back and give him the same offer. At this point I will allow your client to plead to Voluntary Manslaughter and the Weapons charge for a negotiated sentence of 23 years. If we are going to do this it will need to be done next Tuesday at the status conference, assuming that Judge Harrington has a court reporter available. Let me know what your client

wants to do. I will need to know something by the end of this week so I can arrange to get the victim's family here again. Thanks.”). Kozelski also testified he did not believe any plea court would have accepted the plea without a finding of competency, although he stated repeatedly both during the general sessions proceedings and at the evidentiary hearing that he personally had no concerns about Petitioner’s competency. He also acknowledged Petitioner was at least partially responsible for the delay in evaluation due to his lack of cooperation and malingering. See App. 433-43. Kozelski acknowledged that the report indicated Petitioner was malingering. See App. 440. (“Mr. Jones’ scores on the M-FAST suggest a high probability that he was feigning or exaggerating symptoms of mental illness, including extreme symptomatology, rare combinations of symptoms, and unusual hallucinations.”). There is abundant evidence of probative value to support the post-conviction relief court’s findings.

Moreover, these findings are not controlled by an error of law. For relief to be granted, an applicant has to show not only that there was a more favorable plea offer that was not conveyed and he or she would have accepted it, but also must establish that the prosecution would not have cancelled the offer and the court would have accepted it. Collins, 422 S.C. at 262, 810 S.E.2d at 877 (when alleging plea counsel was deficient in his or her handling of a plea offer, an applicant “must demonstrate a reasonable probability that: (1) he ‘would have accepted the earlier plea offer had [he] been afforded effective assistance of counsel;’ (2) “the plea would have been entered without the prosecution canceling it or the trial court refusing to accept it;” and (3) “the end result of the criminal process would have been more favorable by reason of a plea to a lesser charge or a sentence of less prison time.”). Here, Petitioner could not establish the uncommunicated plea offer would have been accepted without the prosecution cancelling it or being rejected by the plea court. Deputy Solicitor Bruce DuRant explicitly testified that the

twenty-three-year offer was rescinded when Kozelski had not presented him with a competency finding by the clearly delineated time limit. Despite Petitioner's protestations otherwise, the post-conviction relief court clearly found this testimony, along with the emails that support it, to be credible and controlling on the case.

Despite clear evidence and case law supporting the post-conviction relief court's findings, Petitioner asserts the court erred in denying him relief simply because the twenty-three-year offer was not communicated and was more favorable than the plea he ultimately entered. However, that is contrary to case law that makes it clear an applicant must also establish the offer would not have been rescinded by the prosecution and would have been accepted by the court. Collins, 422 S.C. at 262, 810 S.E.2d at 877.

Petitioner also wrongly asserts that this is a situation where he was wrongly penalized for wanting a competency evaluation prior to the entry of his plea. That again is not the situation before the Court. Evidence establishes Petitioner was uncooperative in attempts to be evaluated and ultimately was deemed to be malingering, all which led to significant delays in the resolution of his case. The prosecution repeatedly informed Petitioner and his counsel that the various plea offers (including the twenty-three-year plea offer) were conditional and had expiration dates, and that the offers would likely increase as the case progressed as more and more inculpatory evidence was discovered. There is nothing improper about the prosecution placing conditions on plea offers and rescinding the offers when these conditions are not met. See Collins, 422 S.C. at 261, 810 S.E.2d at 877 (“[T]he decision whether to revive the expired plea offer rested exclusively with the solicitor.”); State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 436 n.6, 735 S.E.2d 471, 479 n.6 (2012) (stating “[u]ndoubtedly, the solicitor has discretion in choosing how to proceed with a case, including whether to prosecute in the first place and whether he brings it to trial or offers a

plea bargain”); see also Weatherford v. Bursey, 429 U.S. 545, 561 (1977) (finding “there is no constitutional right to plea bargain; the prosecutor need not do so if he prefers to go to trial”). The prosecutor acted within his discretion in setting conditions for Petitioner’s plea and rescinding the offer when those conditions were not met.

Ultimately, the post-conviction relief court found Petitioner was unable to establish the twenty-three-year plea offer would have been accepted prior to cancellation by the prosecution or acceptance by the plea court. These findings are supported by probative evidence and not controlled by an error of law. This Court should deny certiorari.

CONCLUSION

Because the post-conviction relief court properly determined Petitioner failed to establish any constitutional deprivations, this Court should deny certiorari. Should this Court grant certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issues raised.